
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Thursday, 23 May 2019 at 6.00 pm

CPH Children, Education and 
Skills Decision Session 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors K Meeson, J Hamilton and 
L McCarthy

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Democratic Services Officer Jane Game
Tel: 0121 704 6051
Email: jgame@solihull.gov.uk

Date 15 May 2019

CPH CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SKILLS DECISION SESSION - 
Thursday, 23 May 2019

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

2. DECLARATIONS OF  INTERESTS 

To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and /or conflict of 
interests from Members.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To answer questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of the 
Borough pursuant to Standing Orders.

4. HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICIES - RECEPTION TO 
YEAR 11 AND POST-16 (Pages 5 - 40)

For Cabinet Portfolio Holder to determine the policies for home to school travel 
assistance in respect of reception to year 11 and for post-16 travel.

5. PROPOSAL TO ALTER THE AGE RANGE OF YEW TREE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL (Pages 41 - 44)

To seek approval, on behalf of the Governing Body of Yew Tree Primary School, 
to publish a statutory proposal to extend the lower age range of Yew Tree 
Primary School to include 2 year olds.

6. PROPOSAL TO EXPAND ST AUGUSTINE'S CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL 



(Pages 45 - 48)

To seek approval for a period of non-statutory consultation on the proposal to 
expand St Augustine’s Catholic Primary School

7. UPDATE ON THE SPECIAL FREE SCHOOL BID (Pages 49 - 52)

To update Cabinet Member on the Council’s bid to create a Special Free School 
with a focus on Autism and high level associated Social Emotional and Mental 
Health Needs.

8. LANGLEY PRIMARY SCHOOL - EARLY YEARS PROVISION (Pages 53 - 56)

 To seek formal confirmation of the decision to acquire the established Early 
Years private nursery provision at Langley Primary School.

9. LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF REVISED INSTRUMENT OF 
GOVERNMENT (Pages 57 - 62)

To approve the revision of a Governing Body Instrument of Government

10. LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF APPOINTMENT OF LA GOVERNOR 
(Pages 63 - 70)

To approve Local Authority nominations to school governing bodies.



Meeting date: 23 May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder Children’s 
Services and Skills

Subject/report 
title:

Home to school travel assistance policies - reception to year 11 and 
post-16

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Steve Fenton / Lois Brough
lbrough@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:      ☒ All Wards 

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

n/a

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 For  Cabinet Portfolio Holder to determine the policies for home to school travel 
assistance in respect of reception to year 11 and for post-16 travel.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 The Cabinet Portfolio Holder approves: 

2.1.1 The proposed home to school travel assistance policy for reception to year 11 as 
detailed in Appendix 1. 

2.1.2 The proposed post-16 transport policy statement for 2019-2020 as detailed in 
Appendix 2 

3. What is the issue?

3.1 Reception to year 11: The local authority has a duty to have regard to the DfE home 
to school travel and transport guidance 2014 when carrying out duties in relation to 
home to school travel and transport. 

3.2 Statutory guidance was last published in 2014.  There has been no change to school 
transport legislation or the associated duties that rest with the local authority.

3.3 Post-16 - According to the DfE statutory guidance the local authority must publish a 
transport policy statement on or before 31 May each year applying to the following 
academic year.  The statement must include the details of the available transport 
arrangements. It must also include details of the financial support in respect of reasonable 
travelling expenses that the local authority considers it necessary to make to facilitate 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



access to education or training for learners of sixth form age. 

3.4 Revised statutory guidance for post-16 has been published in January 2019.  There are 
no significant changes to the guidance. 

3.5 For both revised policies, proposed policy enhancements reflect recommendations arising 
from a recent internal audit of the home to school transport function.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 Reception to year 11: There is no material change proposed to the travel offer.  The 
proposed policy has been refined to include minor drafting changes for clarity and as a 
result of audit recommendations. Legal opinion has been sought on the proposed 
policy. 

4.2 A drafting change has been made to proposed policy paragraph 2.2 to clarify how a 
pupil qualifies for travel assistance under extended rights eligibility.

4.3 As a result of audit findings the proposed policy now includes provision for the 
recovery of money paid as a result of a fraudulent application or paid in error. 

4.4 As a result of audit findings the personal travel budget agreement has been amended 
to allow for the recovery of overpaid funds in the event of a child being absent from 
school for more than 90% of the academic year.  The revised agreement has been 
appended to the proposed policy document. 

4.5 The proposed policy states that applications will be subject to assessment by our 
Travel Options Assessment Officer.  The officer, who has been in post since August 
2018, is based in the Council’s Independent Travel Training Team, Road Safety 
department.  The officer’s remit is to assess a pupil’s eligibility for travel assistance 
based on their special need or disability and/or determine the most suitable and cost-
effective travel solution. 

4.6 Post-16: the proposed 2019-2020 policy statement has been re-drafted based on a 
new template provided in the revised statutory guidance. However there are no 
changes to the travel offer, other than detailed below:

4.7 As a result of audit findings the proposed policy statement now includes provision for 
the recovery of money paid as a result of a fraudulent application or paid in error; and 
a modified process for the personal budget aspect of the Solihull travel assistance 
element of the offer. 

4.8 Low income families who are requesting financial assistance are expected to have 
first applied to their school, college or institution for support through the 16-19 Bursary 
Fund.  Low income families who can demonstrate that the bursary does not meet their 
costs may apply for assistance.  Cases will be considered on an individual basis and 
in exceptional circumstances financial assistance may be granted.  Payments are 
proposed to be made half-termly in arrears for the number of days actual attendance 
at 25p mile for 2 return journeys. The rate reflects re-imbursement of fuel only, not 
wear and tear.

Page 6



5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 The previous policies have been working well and complied with the DfE statutory 
guidance.  The proposed amendments refine and clarify existing arrangements, and 
respond appropriately to recommendations arising from the recent internal audit 
review of the travel assistance service. 

5.2 Reception to year 11: there is a statutory duty on the local authority to make 
transport arrangements for all eligible children.

5.3 The proposed policy represents no significant changes.  The policy on entitlement is 
at the minimum level required by the law, for example there is no provision for nursery 
pupils. The revised policy provides greater clarity around extended rights eligibility, 
makes proper provision for the recovery of over-payments, and better explains the 
assessment process. 

5.4 Post-16: There is a statutory duty on the local authority to publish a post-16 transport 
policy statement by 31 May 2019 for the academic year 2019-2020.

5.5 The proposed policy represents no significant changes.  It does provide greater clarity 
around the award of financial assistance for low income families based on better 
understanding of the 16-19 Bursary Fund.

6. Implications and Considerations

Delivery of the Council’s priorities - How will the options/proposals in this report 
contribute to the delivery of Council priorities

6.1.1 This report refers to the discharge of statutory responsibilities of the Council rather 
than implementation of a Council priority.

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:  

6.2.1 Reception to year 11: Applicants currently receiving a personal transport budget will 
receive a 100% payment for the academic year 2019-2020.  If their child achieves less 
than 90% attendance during the year their payment for 2020-2021 will be reduced in 
line with the proposed policy.

6.2.2 Post-16: Applicants currently receiving a personal transport budget will continue to 
receive a budget on the current basis agreed with that applicant.  The proposed 
revised policy would apply to new applications from the date of publication of the 
updated policy statement.   There are currently nine applicants receiving a personal 
travel budget.  Only one was granted for this academic year.  Four will cease in July 
2019; four will cease in July 2020 and one will cease in 2021.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 There has been no public consultation or consideration by scrutiny; there are no 
significant changes proposed to the existing travel assistance offer. 

Page 7



6.4 Financial implications:

6.5 Home to School Transport is predominantly a cost to core Council budgets and 
£3.25m is budgeted in 2019-20.

6.6 There are currently 99 PTBs in operation.  Using a sample of 58 PTBs paid during the 
academic year 2017-2018, 26 children achieved less than 90% attendance.  If the 
proposed policy had been applied the reduced payments would have represented a 
saving of approximately £9,000.

6.7 Legal implications:

6.7.1 The Council is required to comply with home to school travel and transport guidance - 
statutory guidance for local authorities published in July 2014.  

6.7.2 The Council is required to comply with Post-16 transport and travel support to 
education and training. Statutory guidance for local authorities, published in January 
2019.

6.7.3 The current offer is believed to be at the lowest level consistent with the Council’s 
legal obligations. The draft policies have been scrutinised by the Council’s legal team. 

6.8 Risk implications:

6.8.1 There has been no formal risk assessment as part of the policy statement updating; 
no material issues have arisen to the team over the last 12 months. In the last 12 
months 12 appeals have been heard by the Members independent panel.  There have 
been no challenges referred to the Local Government Ombudsman.

6.9 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.9.1 The policy statement is a statutory requirement to evidence compliance with the 
statutory equality duty. 

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 Appendix 1 - Proposed home to school travel assistance policy for pupils - reception 
to year 11 including appendix 1 - personal travel budget agreement and appendix 2 - 
pedestrian route assessment guidelines. 

7.2 Appendix 2 - Proposed Post-16 travel policy statement 2019-2020.

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 DfE home to school travel and transport guidance 2014. 

9.2 Post-16 transport and travel support to education and training - Statutory guidance for 
local authorities.  January 2019

Page 8



Home to school travel assistance policy

Reception to Year 11

Draft Reviewed and updated May 2019

Page 9



1. Introduction

Local Authorities have an obligation to provide free home to school transport as set 
out in the Education Act 1996 (as amended).  The policy adopted by Solihull Council 
has been approved by Members and complies with the legislative framework and is 
reviewed and updated regularly.

Our policy is to provide travel assistance for pupils who meet the criteria listed below.  
The travel assistance provided will be whatever the Council considers is necessary 
and suitable for the purpose of facilitating the child’s attendance at school.

School admissions and travel assistance are separate matters and being offered a 
place at a particular school does not necessarily entitle the child to travel assistance.  
It is the legal responsibility of parents to ensure that their child/ren attend school 
regularly.

Applications will only be considered from the child’s permanent home address to 
their school.  We do not consider travel assistance to and from other addresses to 
suit childcare or parental work arrangements.

2. Eligibility for travel assistance

To qualify for travel assistance the child must meet all of criteria (a) (b) and (c) 

a) The child must live permanently in Solihull
b) The child must be attending a suitable qualifying school (see 2.1)
c) The child must be of compulsory school age. This will include all children in 

reception year through to year 11.  Children in nursery settings and post-16 
students are not considered under the terms of this policy. There is a separate 
policy for post-16 pupils.

AND either (d) or (e)

d) The child must live more than the statutory walking distance (see 2.2) from 
their suitable qualifying school

e) The child lives under the statutory walking distance and cannot reasonably be 
expected to walk to the school, even when accompanied, because of their 
special educational need, disability or mobility problems (subject to 
assessment of need)

2.1 A qualifying school can be a community, foundation or voluntary school; a 
community or foundation special school; a non-maintained special school; a pupil 
referral unit; an academy; a free school; a studio school or a university technical 
college.  For children with special education needs, an independent school can also 
be a qualifying school where this is named on the EHC plan.

A suitable qualifying school for a mainstream child is defined as the catchment-
area school.  If it is not possible to secure a place at the catchment-area school, at 
the point of application,  the next nearest school with a vacancy is deemed to be the 

Page 10



suitable qualifying school. If this school exceeds the statutory walking distance, the 
child is eligible for travel assistance.  Parents who chose a different school will not 
qualify for travel assistance.  This is parental preference.

The suitable qualifying school for a child with an education health and care 
plan attending a mainstream school is the nearest appropriate school that can 
meet their needs.  This will usually be the catchment-area school.  Where a school is 
named in an EHC plan, this does not automatically make it the qualifying school, as 
the school named may be as a result of a preference for a school by the parent.  
Parents who chose a different school will not qualify for travel assistance.  This is 
parental preference.

The suitable qualifying school for a child going to a special school or 
specialist unit, will be the nearest appropriate special school or unit that can meet 
their needs.  Parents who choose a different school or unit will not qualify for travel 
assistance. Where a special school or unit is named in a plan, this does not 
automatically make it the qualifying school or unit, as the school or unit named may 
be as a result of a parent’s preference.  This is parental preference.

Parental preference - Travel assistance will not normally be given if the parent has 
expressed a preference for a school to be named in their child’s education, health 
and care plan which is not the nearest school able to meet the child’s needs.

2.2 Statutory walking distance to the nearest qualifying school depends on the age of 
the child and the financial status of the family as is explained in the following table:

Child’s age Statutory walking distance
Under 8 2 miles
Over 8 3 miles
Over 8 under 11 low income family* 2 miles
Over 11 low income family* 2-6 miles and there are not three or more 

suitable qualifying schools nearer home
Over 11 low income family* 2-15 miles and is the nearest school 

preferred on the grounds of religion or 
belief.

* Low income family = eligible for free school meals or in receipt of the maximum 
level of Working Family Tax Credits

Statutory walking distance is a threshold which determines whether the cost of travel 
assistance should be met by the Council or whether it rests with the parent.  It does 
not mean that children must walk the distance. It is the responsibility of parents who 
live under the qualifying distance to decide how to get their child to and from school.

The distance is calculated by the Council’s measuring system from the child’s home 
via the shortest safe walking route to the main pedestrian gates of the school.  The 
route may include unsurfaced footpaths and other pathways, as well as roads.  The 
property and school location is provided by the Local Land and Property Gazetteer 
(LLPG).  

Page 11



The distance from an address to a particular school may change over time as the 
road and path network alters.  This could mean that later applications for travel 
assistance from the same address are not given the same outcome.  Provision of 
travel assistance to an older sibling or previous occupant of a property does not 
guarantee that future requests for travel assistance will be agreed.

2.3 Unsafe route eligibility

Travel assistance will be offered to those who cannot reasonably be expected to 
walk to their suitable qualifying school because there is no available walking route.   
The availability of a route would be assessed by our Sustainable Travel Team in 
accordance with the Council’s Pedestrian Route Assessment Guidelines - Walked 
Routes to Schools.  (Annex 1)

2.4 Assessment of special educational need or disability

Applications under this criterion must be supported by independent professional 
evidence stating that the child’s disability prevents him or her from making the 
journey safely to school, even if accompanied by a responsible adult or travelling to 
school independently.  For example a letter from a paediatrician or a consultant 
psychologist; we will not accept a letter from a GP.

Evidence to support an application for travel assistance would ordinarily be 
supported by the professional evidence and, if appropriate, the child’s education, 
health and care plan.

An assessment will be carried out by our Travel Options Assessment Officer, who 
will consider all the evidence and whether the family has the necessary resources to 
transport the child themselves or use public transport. 

3. The Solihull offer for travel assistance

Applicants can expect an outcome within 20 days of an assessment, except when 
the application is made to start at the beginning of a new school year.  During the 
application process travel to school remains the legal responsibility of parents.

Applicants who are eligible for travel assistance will be offered assistance which will 
be based on an individual consideration of the safety of the child, the child’s 
individual needs, and the efficient use of resources.   The offer will be the most cost 
effective from this range of options:

3.1 A bus pass or its cash equivalent.  This will be at a minimum level to secure the 
travel to school, e.g. a pass for a specific bus route.  If the route from home to school 
is particularly complex, parents may wish to consider alternative practical options 
such as car sharing or cycling, then the parent may request to take the travel 
assistance as a cash equivalent up to the value of the specific bus route pass. The 
parent may also supplement, at their own expense, a specific bus route pass to 
become a general network pass, if they feel wider access to travel would benefit the 
child.  Bus passes issued by us for routes commissioned by Solihull Council have no 
cash value.

Page 12



3.2 Independent travel training is an option which may be offered to pupils who need 
extra help to develop their skills so they can travel to and from school on their own.  
Solihull Council Independent Travel Trainers work on a one-to-one basis teaching 
young people to travel to and from school independently.  Our aim is to train the 
majority of pupils to travel independently by the end of their Year 10.  Every year all 
pupils receiving assistance other than a bus pass will be assessed for eligibility for 
independent travel training.

Independent travel trainers may assess pupils to determine their eligibility for travel 
assistance.  If the travel trainers confirm that a pupil can travel from home to school 
independently we will not provide a seat on a transport vehicle or pay a personal 
travel budget.  A bus pass or its cash equivalent will be provided if the pupil is 
eligible. 

3.3 Personal travel budget.  Parents of children who qualify under criterion (e) who 
wish to make their own arrangements to take their child to and from school can be 
paid an allowance under the terms of our personal travel budget agreement (annex  
2).  This will usually be calculated based on the shortest driving mileage (measured 
on Google Maps) of two return journeys from home to school.  The HMRC 
recommended rate mileage rate will be used for the calculation.  This is currently 45p 
per mile for the first 10,000 miles and 25p per mile above 10,000 per.

3.4 Transport vehicle.  Where assistance is provided by the provision of a specific 
vehicle, this will normally be pupils travelling together in a mini-bus, taxi or bus, 
specially adapted if necessary.  An adult guide will supervise each vehicle.
It is the responsibility of the parents and the school to ensure that the guide 
supervising the vehicle is fully briefed about the needs of the pupil.

Pick-up and drop-off points will be at a convenient location and within a reasonable 
distance from home.

Home pick-up and drop-off will only be made where the Council deems it essential 
due to the child’s significant needs.

Pick-up and drop-off are only provided at the beginning and the end of the normal 
school day.  We do not provide travel assistance to accommodate part-time 
timetables, part-time induction or integration programmes, school trips, detention, 
clubs or any other activities which take place within the school day, before the start 
or after the end of the school day. 

Pick up and drop-off will only be to the child’s home address.  We will not pick up or 
drop off at child minders, other family members or other locations to suit parent’s 
working or other arrangements

When a child is taken ill at school the parent and/or the school should arrange travel 
home.

Page 13



4. Notes

4.1 Any offer of assistance is valid for one year only.   Eligibility for travel assistance will 
be reviewed annually or when there is a change of circumstances. For children with 
an education, health and care plan this would normally take place as part of the 
annual review.   Any changes to travel assistance following a review will be 
implemented from the beginning of the next school term, or sooner by mutual 
agreement.

4.2 Parents and pupils travelling on taxi transport vehicles must follow the Code of 
Conduct (annex 3) which will be provided when transport assistance is offered.

4.3 Travel assistance will not be provided for pupils attending other educational centres 
during the school day.  The responsibility and funding for these travel arrangements 
lie with the school or other commissioner of that provision.

4.4 This policy only covers the child qualifying for travel assistance. The Council does 
not contribute towards the cost of the parent accompanying the child.

4.5 The policy does not place any requirement on the Council to ensure that a vehicle is 
provided.  Even where travel assistance is provided it remains a legal requirement 
for the parent to ensure the child’s attendance at school. 

4.6 If a school placement has been agreed on the grounds of parental preference and 
this school is not the nearest appropriate school, the child will not be entitled to 
receive travel assistance.  The parent will be wholly responsible for securing 
attendance.

4.7 If a child is eligible for travel assistance to their catchment-area school and parents 
choose for their child to attend an alternative qualifying school which is further away, 
we will provide assistance up to the value of that which would be provided to travel to 
the catchment-area school.  If the value of the assistance is zero, such as a bus 
pass for a Solihull contracted school bus service, there will be no payment to the 
parent. 

4.8 The Council will not provide travel assistance if a parent chooses a school on 
religious or faith grounds other than where the child comes from a low income family 
and the eligibility criteria set out in 2.3 above is met.

4.9 Travel assistance is provided in the expectation that children behave appropriately 
while travelling to and from school.  Children are subject to their school’s behaviour 
policy while travelling to and from school.  Schools are expected to promote 
appropriate standards of behaviour by pupils on the journey to and from school.  
Head teachers are empowered to take action to address unacceptable behaviour 
even when this takes place outside the school premises including behaviour on 
school transport.

4.10 In the event of misbehaviour the Council reserves the right to withdraw travel 
assistance for a temporary period or while the case is being reassessed.  In the 

Page 14



event of more serious or repeated cases of misbehaviour the Council reserves the 
right to withdraw transport permanently.

5. Change of circumstances

5.1 Families receiving travel assistance must notify any change of circumstances, eg. 
change of address, change of school, or change in eligibility for low income 
assistance.  If the child is no longer eligible transport assistance will be withdrawn.  If 
the change in circumstances is notified immediately and it means the child is no 
longer eligible for travel assistance any unexpired portion of a bus pass may be kept.  

5.2 Those in receipt of a personal travel budget whose circumstances change will be 
required to repay the appropriate proportion of the advance payment.

5.3 Families who move house after their child has started a school are responsible for 
their child’s continued travel to that school.

6 Overpayment made in error or as a result or a fraudulent application

6.1 If it is found that we have made an overpayment of public funds to you, either due to 
our error, failure to notify us of a change in circumstances,  or a fraudulent 
application,the Council will take action to recover any amounts overpaid.   This may 
include legal action.

7. Disabled Parents 

An available walking route assumes that parents accompany their children along a 
walking route for it to be considered safe.  If the parents’ disability prevents them 
from doing so, children may be eligible for travel assistance.  In such circumstances, 
parents should provide independent evidence in support of their application, eg. a 
letter from a consultant.

8. Discretionary and exceptional travel assistance

If your child is not eligible for travel assistance under the criteria in section 2, but you 
feel there are exceptional circumstances you can request that your case be 
considered by Officers.  Examples of exceptional circumstances that have been 
successful in the past include severe short-term medical condition; family trauma/ 
upheaval that mean the parent needs a period to resolve alternative arrangements to 
ensure the pupil can get to school safely.  Such emergency assistance is normally 
offered on a short-term basis, and the parent may be required to contribute towards 
the cost.

9. Appeals process

If you are not happy with the outcome of your application you have the right of 
appeal as follows.

Stage 1
Fill in an appeal form explaining your challenge to the decision.

Page 15



An officer review panel reconsiders the decision.
You will be sent a letter detailing the new outcome.
If you are still not happy with the outcome you can ask for independent panel of 
Council Members to review the decision – Stage 2.

Stage 2
All of the documentation from stage 1 will be submitted to Members.
You can add any further information or supporting evidence that you wish.
Democratic Services department will arrange for a panel of Council Members to 
review the application, the process and the outcome.
Where an appeals panel considers a case and finds that the child is not eligible 
under the terms of the policy but, nonetheless, wishes to make an offer of provision, 
they may set a contribution at a level that they see fit.
You will be sent a letter detailing the outcome to your appeal.

If, once you have followed the above, you think that the proper procedures have not 
been followed you can ask the Local Government Ombudsman to investigate.  This 
must be done within 12 months of the outcome of your appeal.  This is not a right of 
appeal as the Local Government Ombudsman can only investigate complaints about 
maladministration.   As a guide the Local Government Ombudsman will usually 
consider whether:

 the council’s policy for providing help with travel assistance is objective, clear and 
fair;

 the council have applied their policy properly or fairly;
 the council did not take relevant information into account in reaching its decision, 

or took irrelevant information into account; or
 the council delayed dealing with your application.

The Local Government Ombudsman can be contacted by phone on: 0300 061 0614 
or www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint.

Page 16

http://www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint


Annex 1

Pedestrian Route Assessment Guidelines - Walked 
Routes to Schools

Introduction

These guidelines developed by the Solihull Council Sustainable Travel Team. 

Local Authorities have a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to provide home to 
school transport for eligible children (as defined by Section 508B of the Act).
One of the categories of eligible children for whom transport must be provided is defined as 
‘children who cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their nearest suitable school 
because the nature of the route is deemed unsafe to walk’ (Department for Education 
statutory guidance, 2014).  This applies to children who live within statutory walking 
distance of their nearest suitable school (currently up to two miles for primary aged children 
and three miles for secondary aged children).

The legislation places a duty on local authorities to identify such routes but does not 
prescribe how routes should be assessed to determine their suitability.

Principles of the assessment process

The assessment procedure is based on the following principles as determined by statutory 
guidance, the Road Safety GB guidelines and associated case law.

Available Routes
The measurement of the walking distance between a child’s home and school in order to 
determine eligibility is defined by the statutory guidance as ‘the shortest route along which a 
child, accompanied as necessary, may walk safely’ and which ‘may include footpaths, 
bridleways, and other pathways, as well as recognised roads’.  Route assessments to 
assess the safety of the route therefore take into account all such rights of way.

A route is deemed available if a child, accompanied as necessary can walk with reasonable 
safety to school.  This does not mean a route would qualify as unavailable or unsafe 
because the parent perceives the route to be unsafe on the grounds of personal safety and 
security; or because of dangers which would arise if the child was unaccompanied; or 
because there are low level hazards – mud, puddles, leaves, unlit areas.  

Accompaniment
The Road Safety GB Guidelines and Case Law makes it clear that it is considered the 
responsibility and decision of the parent/carer to accompany a child (or arrange suitable 
supervision) as necessary when walking to and from school, including to and from a 
provided transport pick-up and set-down point.  The Pedestrian Route Assessment Process 
therefore assumes that a child will be accompanied by a responsible parent or carer.  

Page 17



Risks
The assessment process takes into account only the potential risk/s created by traffic, 
highway and topographical conditions.  It does not take into account issues of personal 
security as it is assumed a child will be accompanied as necessary by a responsible parent 
or carer.  

Site visits
At least one site visit will always be undertaken during the route assessment process.  
Where it is necessary to undertake traffic counts or speed readings the visit/s will be 
undertaken at the beginning of the school day between 8am and 9am.  If it is not necessary 
to undertake traffic counts or speed readings, a site visit may be performed at any time of 
day.  Any sections of the route which may be of specific interest (poor visibility, footpath 
sections, speed limit signing and hazards) will be photographed and noted.

Policy
This document sets out the policy and procedure against which Solihull Metropolitan 
Borough Council will assess pedestrian walked routes to school.   The procedure is based 
on guidelines issued by Road Safety GB in 2012 entitled ‘Assessment of Walked Routes to 
Schools’ and should be read in conjunction with those guidelines.

Where concerns are raised about the safety of a route which is below statutory walking 
distance and is:

 Between the child’s home and his or her nearest or designated school
 Between the child’s home and a school where she or he has been allocated a place 

as the nearest school with room

A pedestrian route assessment in accordance with this policy will be commissioned by 
Childrens Services Team and undertaken by the Sustainable Travel Team in Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Page 18



The assessment procedure

Continuous adequate footway

                                       No Yes Non-
hazardous 
walking route

“Step offs” - on roads that have a light 
traffic flow plus adequate sight lines to give 
advanced warning to pedestrians and 
drivers.

No Yes Non-
hazardous 
walking route

No “step off” but road has very light traffic 
flow and sight lines are able to provide 
adequate advanced warning to pedestrians 
and drivers.

No Yes Non-
hazardous 
walking route

Unsafe walking 
route

Page 19



Assessment criteria and definitions

Adequate footway is considered to be a footway or roadside trip which is of adequate 
usable walking width for the circumstances.  To be usable it should be clear of any 
overgrowth, e.g. shrubs and tree obstructing the footway.

Traffic flows
Where there is not continuous adequate footway, it will firstly be necessary to consider 
traffic flows for that part of the route.  Annual Averaged Daily Traffic (AADT) counts will be 
used where these are available and will be factored up using national growth factors to 
provide a current flow.  Where traffic counts are not already available a manual count will 
be undertaken or ATC’s Radarclass or Speedvisor counts will be used.  Traffic counts will 
be undertaken at the beginning of the school day between 8am and 9am but will be 
performed at any time of the academic year, regardless of weather.  

Passenger Car Units are calculated as follows:
3 pedal cycles = 1 PCU
2 motorcycles = 1 PCU
1 car = 1 PCU
1 light goods vehicle (up to 3.5 tonnes gross weight) = 1 PCU
1 bus/coach (over 3.5 tonnes) = 2 PCUs
Goods vehicles (over 3.5 tonnes) = 2 PCUs
Goods vehicles (over 7.5 tonnes/multi axle Lorries) = 3 PCUs

Traffic counts will determine the traffic flow for each section of the route in line with the 
following definitions:

Heavy traffic flow:  over 840 Passenger Car Units (PCUs) per hour
Medium traffic flow:  400 to 840 PCUs per hour
Light traffic flow:  up to 400 PCUs per hour
Very light traffic flow:  up to 120 PCUs per hour

Step offs
Step offs are defined as providing an opportunity to step clear of the roadway onto a 
reasonably even and firm surface such as a roadside verge.

Visibility/lines of sight
Routes with light traffic flow and adequate step offs, or very light traffic flow without step 
offs, will only be considered non-hazardous where:

 Lines of sight are sufficient for pedestrians to see oncoming vehicles and have 
sufficient time to safely take avoiding action.

 Lines of sight for drivers are sufficient for them to see pedestrians walking along the 
carriageway and have sufficient time to safely take avoiding action at the speed they 
are travelling.

Lines of sight for drivers are measured from a height of 1.05m and must be equal or greater 
to the overall minimum stopping distance for traffic at the recorded 85%ile speed of traffic 
on that section of the route.  Visibilities will be measured at their shortest point from where a 
driver could see a pedestrian on a bend.

Page 20



Speed surveys
If recent speed surveys are available from the Councils database, they will be used to 
undertake an analysis.  If they are not available, speed readings will be measured using a 
radar gun, or similar device.  If this is impractical, average speed surveys will be carried out 
using time and distance over sections of the route.

Where traffic speeds are very low (20mph or below), the route will be presumed safe unless 
there are exceptional factors.

Crossings
Where there is a need to cross roads, a route will only be considered non-hazardous where 
there is either:

 Crossing facilities (e.g. zebra, pelican or puffin crossing), pedestrian phase at traffic 
lights, school crossing patrol or pedestrian refuge/s; 
Or

 Sufficient gaps in the traffic flow and sight lines to allow enough opportunity to cross 
safely.

‘Sufficient gaps’ is defined as four gaps in each five minute period, based on a walking 
speed of 3 feet per second.  A gap survey will not be considered necessary where flows are 
below 800 PCUs per hour, as traffic flows below this level are considered to provide 
sufficient gaps.  If traffic flows are in excess of this, a gap survey will be undertaken.

Visibility should allow a vehicle to stop, given the 85%ile speed for traffic on that section of 
the route.

Road accident and casualty record
The road accident record and road casualty record will be considered for all route 
assessments.

Road width
On routes without continuous footway or verge, consideration will be given to the width of 
the carriageway and speed and type of traffic using the route.

Street lighting
In line with the Road Safety GB guidelines, the presence or absence of street lighting is not 
considered to be a factor.  This is because adequate sight lines and visibility are considered 
as part of the assessment process and it is the responsibility of the parent/carer to ensure 
that pedestrians are dressed and equipped appropriately for the journey and weather 
conditions.

Rural schools
Where schools are located in rural or village locations without footway or step offs, traffic 
flow may exceed the ‘very light’ threshold at certain times of the day (such as school 
beginning and end times) in the immediate vicinity of the school and/or village.  It would be 
impractical to suggest that such village or school locations are not suitable for any 
pedestrian use, and professional judgement will therefore be exercised and consideration 

Page 21



given to factors such as speed limits or other road safety measures in determining the 
outcome of the assessment.

Professional judgement
The Road Safety GB guidelines make it clear that, particularly in rural areas, the exercise of 
continuous professional judgement is likely to be required.  No criteria can provide the 
answers to every situation or risk that may be encountered.

Professional judgement will be exercised in all route assessments.  For example, where a 
route passes all criteria but there is an exceptional reason for judging the route unsuitable 
(e.g. unacceptable width with the proportion of HGV flow) the route may be failed on the 
basis of the assessors’ professional judgement.

Page 22



Annex 2
Personal travel budget agreement for pupils aged 4-16

This agreement is between Solihull Council and the named parent named below.

Child’s name

School

Parent’s name

Home address

Email

Phone number

PTB start date

The Council agrees to pay the parent a personal travel budget (PTB) in recognition of the 
child qualifying for assistance under the terms of the Council’s home to school travel 
assistance policy.

The Council will calculate the payment by:

o using the shortest driving distance measured by Google Maps;
o assuming two journeys per day (i.e. home to school to home, twice);
o using the number of days the child is required to attend in an academic year.
o using the HMRC approved rates for mileage - 45p for the first 10,000 miles per 

annum and 25p per mile for the subsequent miles per annum.  You will be given a 
term’s notice of any change to this rate.

The annual payment will be divided into three equal instalments and paid into your 
nominated bank account one week before the beginning of each school term.

The payment will be adjusted if attendance falls below 90%, regardless of the reason for 
absence.  The Council cannot pay for journeys which have not been done, but will allow for 
a reasonable level of absence.  The adjustment will be made annually in arrears.  This 
means that in the first academic year the PTB will be paid in full (or part year if the PTB 
starts part way through the year).  Average attendance for the academic year up to June 
will be collected.  If this is less than 90% the PTB for the following year will be reduced by 
the percentage below 90%.  For example, if average attendance in the 1st year is 80%  the 
PTB in 2nd year will be reduced by 10%.  If attendance in 2nd year two is 91% the PTB will 
be paid in full in 3rd year.

If the Council finds we have made an overpayment of public funds to you, either due to our 
error or a fraudulent application, or a failure to notify us of a change of circumstances, we 
will take action to recover the money.  This may include legal action.

We reserve the right to serve 20 school days’ notice of termination of this PTB agreement.

Page 23



You (the parent/applicant) agree to:

o Be responsible for arranging your child’s safe travel to and from school.
o Inform the Council immediately of any change in circumstances, for example, if the 

family moves house or the child leaves the school.
o Repay any proportion of PTB payment that you are not entitled to.
o Tell the Council if you no longer wish to receive the PTB.  The Travel Options 

Assessment Officer will then review your application and circumstances. 
o Tell the Council if your child is unable to attend school on a long-term basis.
o Provide bank details to enable termly BACS payment of the PTB

Name of person receiving PTB

Account name

Sort code -- / -- / --

Account number

Your personal travel budget calculation

Home-school-home by shortest driving route:
Multiplied by standard number of trips per day:
Multiplied by number of days required to attend per year:
Total miles per academic year

First 10,000 miles
Miles less than 10,000

First 10,000 at £0.45
Remaining at £0.25
If less than 10,000 miles at £0.45
Total academic year value:
 
Termly payment

Fill in, sign and return a copy of this agreement to enable payments to be arranged.

Signed

Date

Page 24



Annex 3

o If you are not at home to receive your child and have not made 
an alternative arrangement, and cannot be contacted the driver 
will finish his route and return to your home to wait for you.  We 
may charge you £10 for every 15 minutes past the normal drop 
off time.

o Let the School Transport Team know if you no longer need 
transport or if your child’s transport needs change, or if you 
change address. 

o If you have concerns regarding any aspect of transport or you 
think others are breaking the Code you should tell your child’s 
school in the first instance then contact us.

Solihull Council
School Transport Team

E: edtrans@solihull.gov.uk

 0121 704 6610

Write your transport provider’s contact details here:

May 2019

Code of conduct
for pupils on school
transport
We have a code of conduct because we want everyone to travel in 
comfort and stay safe.  To make sure this happens, all young 
people must follow this code of conduct.  We know that most of you 
behave well on the journey to and from school, but sometimes the 
behaviour of a few can make the journey unpleasant or dangerous 
for others.  If you cannot behave properly we may not be able to let 
you use the school transport and your parents will be responsible 
for getting you to and from school.

While travelling to and from school you are still subject to your 
school’s rules and behaviour policy.  This code of conduct is an 
extension of your school’s policy.

How to be a good passenger

Do …

 Be ready on time.  If you are late the vehicle won’t be able to 
wait for you

 Be polite to the driver, the guide and the other passengers
 Follow any instruction from the driver or guide 
 Stay in your seat and keep your seat belt on
 Look after your own belongings and keep them in a safe place
 Take your litter home with you
 Tell your school and parents if you see someone behaving badly 

or bullying someone 
 Make sure you take any necessary medication before you leave 

home or school

P
age 25

mailto:edtrans@solihull.gov.uk


Annex 3
Do not …

 Shout, use bad language or make signs out of the window
 Start arguments or verbal bullying
 Engage in fighting or ‘play fighting’ 
 Hurt anyone on the vehicle
 Distract the driver except in an emergency
 Eat or drink  
 Spit
 Smoke any form of cigarette, including e-cigarettes or vapour 

cigarettes
 Access the internet on a mobile device
 Ask to be dropped off anywhere else - the driver can only take 

you to your normal destination

If you do not behave properly

o You will be reported to the Head Teacher of your school and 
reminded how to behave

o If you continue to misbehave we will write to your parents telling 
them what you are doing wrong and warning them that if you 
carry on you will not be allowed to travel on the vehicle

o If you still do not behave we will write to your parents and tell 
them you cannot travel on the vehicle and that they will be 
responsible for getting you to and from school every day.

o If you damage the vehicle you will have to pay for the repairs

Information for parents

The Code of Conduct is written for children with a broad range of 
abilities and behaviours.  Talk to your child about the elements of 
the code that are relevant to him or her

As parents you can support us in providing a good transport service 
by following this guide:

o Ensure that your child follows the code of conduct
o Make sure your child is ready in time for their pick up
o If your child needs help, take them to the vehicle and collect 

them from the vehicle
o Speak to the driver and guide in a way you would like to be 

spoken to
o If, on an odd occasion, you are not at home to receive your child 

at the drop off time you must phone the school and/or taxi 
company immediately telling them your estimated arrival time 
and/or alternative instructions.

o If you want to make a permanent arrangement, to be used all the 
time or occasionally, for example, leave your child alone, with a 
sibling or another adult you must send your instructions to school 
and the School Transport Team by email or letter.  In doing so, 
you will be accepting full responsibility for your child.

o Exceptional, one-off, emergency requests for a change will be 
met, if possible.

P
age 26



Post-16 Transport Policy Statement 

2019 – 2020 

Transport policy statement for young people aged 16-19 in further education,

School Transport Team

Solihull Council
edtrans@solihull.gov.uk

Draft due for publication in May 2019

Page 27

mailto:edtrans@solihull.gov.uk


Page | 2

Contents
1 Introduction .......................................................................................................3

2 Aims and objectives..........................................................................................3

3 Transport and travel support.............................................................................4

3.1 The 16-19 Bursary Fund ........................................................................4

3.2 Young parents / Care to Learn...............................................................4

4 LA support.........................................................................................................5

4.1 LA support for young people without special educational needs or 
disabilities .........................................................................................................5

4.2 LA support for learners with special educational needs or a disability...5

4.3 Type of support available .......................................................................6

4.4 Apprenticeships......................................................................................7

4.5 Those not in education, employment or training (NEET) .......................7

4.6 Residential courses and courses outside the West Midlands................7

5 Applying for LA transport support .....................................................................7

5.1 Appeals and complaints .........................................................................7

5.2 Overpayment made in error or as a result or a fraudulent application...8

6 Concessionary fares, discounts, subsidies, passes or travel cards available 
for Post-16 young people..................................................................................8

7 Schools in Solihull with post-16 provision.......................................................10

8 Colleges in Solihull..........................................................................................13

9 Colleges beyond Solihull ................................................................................14

10 Useful contacts ...............................................................................................15

Page 28



3 | P a g e

1 Introduction
Local authorities do not have to provide free or subsidised post-16 travel support but 
do have a duty to prepare and publish an annual transport policy statement 
specifying the arrangements for the provision of transport or other support that the 
authority considers it necessary to make, to facilitate the attendance of all persons of 
sixth form age receiving education or training.

The statutory duty on the local authority to provide free travel assistance ends when 
students leave year 11.

‘Sixth form age’ and ‘post-16’ refers to those young people who are over 16 years of 
age but under 19 or continuing learners who started their programme of learning 
before their 19th birthday (years 12,13,14). 

Local authorities also have a duty to encourage, enable and assist young people 
with learning difficulties and/or disabilities to participate in education and training, up 
to the age of 25. 

This policy document specifies the support that Solihull Council (the Council) 
considers necessary to facilitate the attendance of post-16 learners receiving 
education or training. 

Education or training refers to learning or training at a school, further education 
institution, a council maintained or assisted institution providing higher or further 
education, an establishment funded directly by the Education Skills Funding Agency, 
learning providers delivering accredited programmes of learning which lead to 
positive outcomes and are funded by the council, for example, colleges, charities 
and private learning providers. 

2 Aims and objectives 
The Council is committed to encourage, enable and assist the participation of young 
people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities up to the age of 19 in education 
and training.

The Council wants all young people to have the same access to opportunities in life: 
to travel, to get a job, have friends and relationships, to live as independently as 
possible, to have a good social life and to be valued in their community.  Learning to 
travel on public transport is an essential skill.  We actively promote independent 
travel so that all young people can access their community, training and learning 
opportunities as well as social and leisure activities.

Page 29



Page | 4

3 Transport and travel support
3.1 The 16-19 Bursary Fund 

The 16 to 19 Bursary Fund provides financial support to help young people 
overcome specific barriers to participation so they can remain in education. 

There are 2 types of 16-19 bursaries: 

(i) A vulnerable bursary of up to £1,200 a year for young people in one of the 
defined vulnerable groups below: 

• in care
• care leavers 
• in receipt of Income Support, or Universal Credit in place of Income 

Support, in their own right 
• in receipt of Employment and Support Allowance or Universal Credit and 

Disability Living or Personal Independence Payments in their own right 
• discretionary bursaries which institutions award to meet individual needs, 

for example, help with the cost of transport, meals, books and equipment 

(ii) Discretionary bursaries which institutions award to meet individual needs, 
for example, help with the cost of transport, meals, books and equipment 

To be eligible for the 2019-2020 discretionary bursary young people must: 

• be aged 16 or over but under 19 at 31 August 2019 or 
• be aged 19 or over at 31 August 2019 and have an Education, Health and 

Care Plan (EHCP) 
• be aged 19 or over at 31 August 2019 and continuing on a study 

programme they began aged 16 to 18 (‘19+ continuers’) 
• be studying a programme that is subject to inspection by a public body 

which assures quality (such as Ofsted), the provision must also be funded 
by either a Government funding agency or the local authority 

Schools and colleges are responsible for managing both types of bursary. Young 
people who want to apply for support from the bursary fund should contact their 
chosen school or college to make an application.
 
Further information can be found at www.gov.uk/ search for post-16 bursaries. 

3.2 Young parents / Care to Learn

If you are a young parent under 20, Care to Learn can help pay for your childcare 
and related travel costs, up to £160 per child per week, while you’re learning. 

Care to Learn can help with the cost of: 

• childcare, including deposit and registration fees 
• a childcare ‘taster’ session (up to 5 days) 

Page 30



5 | P a g e

• keeping your childcare place over the summer holidays 
• taking your child to the childcare provider 

For more information please visit https://www.gov.uk/care-to-learn/how-to-claim 

4 LA support 
Transport for West Midlands (TfWM), the transport arm of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority, is the body that is responsible for promoting and delivering 
public transport across the West Midlands.
Solihull pays an annual levy (£8.5m in 2019/20) to Transport for West Midlands, a 
proportion of which will support TfWM’s spending on subsidised bus, train and tram 
travel for children and young people. Consequently, for the vast majority of post-16 
learners, Solihull Council does not provide travel assistance directly to individual 
students because they can access their course using the transport network.

Solihull and the wider West Midlands is predominantly a large urban area that is well 
served by an extensive bus and rail network. The vast majority of schools and 
colleges are also well served by this network.

The Council’s contribution to Network West Midlands supports and promotes 
learners of sixth age accessing education or training of their choice within the West 
Midlands area.

4.1 LA support for young people without special educational needs or 
disabilities 

The Council considers that all students aged between 16-19 will be able to travel to 
their provision on the West Midlands transport network by purchasing their own 
travel pass, available from Network West Midlands.

Low income families can apply for financial assistance to their college or institution 
for support through the 16-19 Bursary Fund.

4.2 LA support for learners with special educational needs or a disability 

Students aged 16 - 19 years

The majority of students will be able to access their course using the public transport 
infrastructure as described above, or s/he will be transported by a family member or 
carer.  Over 85% of buses operating within the West Midlands network meet 
accessibility regulations and all buses are low-floor and wheelchair accessible.  More 
information can be found at https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/information-
for/transport-accessibility/during-your-journey/ .

High-needs students with severe mobility or learning difficulties who live Solihull and 
are unable to travel to their course independently and can prove that there is no 
other family member or carer who can meet their travel needs may apply for 
discretionary travel assistance providing they are: 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/care-to-learn/how-to-claim
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/information-for/transport-accessibility/during-your-journey/
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/information-for/transport-accessibility/during-your-journey/


Page | 6

 aged 16-18 years at the time of application, or have started the course before their 
19th birthday and

 attend a full-time, suitable course at the nearest suitable school, college, institution 
or 16-19 academy within the West Midlands transport region.
Students aged 19 and over

The Council discharges its duty to students aged 19 and over through the Adult 
Social Care team.  Application for travel assistance should be made to Adult Social 
Care for consideration under the terms of their policy.

4.3 Type of support available

Travel training 

The Council has a team of fully trained and accredited travel trainers who have years 
of experience of working with young people with learning difficulties and/or 
disabilities.  They work with individuals to train them to travel safely and 
independently to and from their school or college, on foot or on public transport.

The benefits extend far beyond travel to and from school, such as improving social 
skills, increasing independence, self-esteem and access to social life and leisure 
activities.

Seat on a vehicle to Reynalds Cross School or Merstone School

Students may be offered a seat on an existing vehicle which is travelling to Merstone 
Special School or Reynalds Cross Special School.  The applicant must pay a 
contribution (see below).

Seat on a council commissioned bus service

Students with learning difficulties and/or disabilities who purchase their own Network 
West Midlands travel pass may use council-run school bus services, for example the 
T1 bus which runs from Meriden, Balsall Common, Knowle and Dorridge and stops 
near Solihull College, Blossomfield campus.

Other post-16 institutions

Generally the Council will not be able to provide a taxi service to other institutions as 
the cost is prohibitive.

Contribution towards assistance

Students offered a seat on any Council commissioned specialist transport to post-16 
provision must pay a contribution towards the cost.  

The current average cost to the Council, of providing a door-to-door vehicle service, 
is £5,000 per student.  The applicant’s payment represents a contribution towards 
the Council’s actual costs.  Payment must be made termly in advance.

Page 32



7 | P a g e

The contribution for 2019-2020 is £660 per annum or £220 per term.  
Financial assistance for low income families

Low income families are expected to approach their school, college or institution for 
financial support, through the 16-19 Bursary Fund, to meet the contribution for a seat 
on a Council commission specialist transport vehicle.

Low income families who are requesting financial assistance are expected to have 
first applied to their school, college or institution for support through the 16-19 
Bursary Fund.  Low income families who can demonstrate that the bursary does not 
meet their costs may apply for further assistance.  Cases will be considered on an 
individual basis and in exceptional circumstances financial assistance may be 
granted.  Payments will be made half-termly in arrears for the number of days actual 
attendance at 25p mile for 2 return journeys.

4.4 Apprenticeships 

The Council considers that young people aged between 16-19 will be able to travel 
to their apprenticeship location on the West Midlands transport network by 
purchasing their own travel pass, available from Network West Midlands.

4.5 Those not in education, employment or training (NEET) 

Job seekers who are registered on the Youth Promise Plus programme may be 
eligible for limited travel assistance.

4.6 Residential courses and courses outside the West Midlands

The Council does not provide travel assistance to young people who attend a 
residential placement or a course which is outside the region covered by the West 
Midlands travel infrastructure.

5 Applying for LA transport support
Young people or a family member should fill in an application form and send it with 
supporting evidence to the School Transport Team.  Medical evidence should be 
supported by a consultant or other hospital professional.  Applications are subject to 
assessment by our Travel Options Assessment Officer and are normally processed 
within 20 school days of an assessment.

5.1 Appeals and complaints 

If you are not happy with the outcome of your application you have the right of 
appeal as follows.

Stage 1
Fill in an appeal form explaining your challenge to the decision.
An officer review panel reconsiders the decision.
You will be sent a letter detailing the new outcome.

Page 33



Page | 8

If you are still not happy with the outcome you can ask for independent panel of 
Council Members to review the decision – Stage 2.

Stage 2
All of the documentation from stage 1 will be submitted to Members.
You can add any further information or supporting evidence that you wish.
Democratic Services department will arrange for a panel of Council Members to 
review the application, the process and the outcome.
Where an appeals panel considers a case and finds that the child is not eligible 
under the terms of the policy but, nonetheless, wishes to make an offer of provision, 
they may set a contribution at a level that they see fit.

You will be sent a letter detailing the outcome to your appeal.

If, once you have followed the above, you think that the proper procedures have not 
been followed you can ask the Local Government Ombudsman to investigate.  This 
must be done within 12 months of the outcome of your appeal.  This is not a right of 
appeal as the Local Government Ombudsman can only investigate complaints about 
maladministration.   As a guide the Local Government Ombudsman will usually 
consider whether:

 the council’s policy for providing travel assistance is objective, clear and fair;
 the council have applied their policy properly or fairly;
 the council did not take relevant information into account in reaching its decision, or 

took irrelevant information into account; or
 the council delayed dealing with your application.

The Local Government Ombudsman can be contact by phone on: 0300 061 0614 or 
www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint.

5.2 Overpayment made in error or as a result or a fraudulent application

If it is found that we have made an overpayment of public funds to you, either due to 
our error, failure to notify of change of circumstances that may affect eligibility, or a 
fraudulent application, any over payments must be repaid to the Council. The 
Council will take action, if necessary, to recover the monies.  This may include legal 
action.

6 Concessionary fares, discounts, subsidies, passes 
or travel cards available for Post-16 young people
Disabled person’s free travel pass
Transport for West Midlands can issue an English National Concessionary Pass 
(Disabled Person’s Free Travel Pass) which gives disabled people free travel by bus 
anywhere in England during 'off-peak' times - between 9.30am and 11.00pm Monday 
to Friday and all day at weekends and on public holidays. 

Page 34

http://www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint


9 | P a g e

Travel before 9:30am Monday-Friday costs £1 single-fare on National Express West 
Midlands buses. A ticket can be bought from the bus driver by presenting a disabled 
person’s pass and asking for a £1 single-journey ticket.

https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/disabled-persons-pass/

Network West Midlands 16-18 Photocard

Students aged 16-18 and living in the West Midlands can apply for a 16-18 
photocard which allows the purchase of single, return and season tickets for the bus, 
train and tram with a saving you up to 50%.  The 16-18 photocard is free of charge.

https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/child/16-18-photocard/

Student tickets

Students over 18 in full-time education or 16-18 year olds who are not eligible for the 
16-18 Photocard can buy the following student tickets:

n-bus Student for travel anywhere in the West Midlands area on any bus 
operator at any time. 

n-network Student for travel on bus, train and tram travel across the Network 
West Midlands area.

https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/students/

Ticket finder

A range of tickets is available for the bus, train or Metro.  Choose a ticket for just one 
day, one month, one term or one year.  Best value tickets are available when you 
pay by direct debit. 

https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/

Journey planner

Network West Midlands Journey Planner enables students to see which public 
transport routes they would need to use to travel from home to the school or college 
they are attending.  Or students can use NetNav and Net WM journey planning apps.
 
https://journeyplanner.networkwestmidlands.com/ 

Page 35

https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/disabled-persons-pass/
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/child/16-18-photocard/
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/students/
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/
https://journeyplanner.networkwestmidlands.com/


Page | 10

7 Schools in Solihull with post-16 provision
Alderbrook School 
Blossomfield Road
Solihull
B91 1SN
0121 704 2146

Arden
Station Road
Knowle
Solihull
B93 0PT
01564 773348

Grace Academy
Chapelhouse Road
Birmingham
B37 5JS
0121 329 4600

Heart of England School
Gypsy Lane
Balsall Common
Coventry
CV7 7FW
01676 535222

John Henry Newman Catholic College
Chelmsley Road
Birmingham
B37 5GA
0121 770 5331

Park Hall Academy
Water Orton Road
Castle Bromwich
Birmingham
B36 9HF
0121 748 0400

St Peter’s Catholic School
Whitefields Road
Solihull
B91 3NZ
0121 705 3988

Tudor Grange Academy Kingshurst
Cooks Lane
Birmingham
B37 6NZ
0121 329 8300

Tudor Grange Academy Solihull
Dingle Lane
Solihull
B91 3PD
0121 705 5100

Forest Oak Special School
Winward Way
Smith’s Wood
Birmingham B36 0UE
0121 717 0088
Post-16 based at Solihull College 
Woodlands Camps

Hazel Oak Special School
Hazel Oak Road
Shirley
Solihull
B90 2AZ
0121 744 4162
Post-16 based at Solihull College 
Blossomfield Campus

Merstone Special School
Winward Way
Smith’s Wood
Birmingham
B36 0UE
0121 717 1040

Reynalds Cross Special School
Kineton Green Road
Olton
Solihull
B92 7ER
0121 707 3012

Page 36



8 Colleges in Solihull 
Solihull College
Blossomfield Campus
Blossomfield Road
Solihull
B91 1SB
enquiries@solihull.ac.uk
0121 678 7000

The campus is a 10 minute walk from Solihull’s main bus and train station.  Bus 
numbers 6, 30, 49, 76, 519, A6, A7, T1 stop outside the campus.

Solihull College
Woodlands Campus
Auckland Drive
Smith’s Wood
B36 0NF
enquiries@solihull.ac.uk
0121 678 7000

The following bus routes stop within walking distance of the campus: 55, 71, 94, 
94A, 96, 966, X12.

Solihull College student finance offers limited support for trips, equipment and travel.  
For more information go to the college website:  https://www.solihull.ac.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/09/SS-16-19-Financial-Assistance-Guidelines-17-18.pdf

Solihull Sixth Form College
Widney Manor Road
Solihull
B91 3WR
enquiries@solihullsfc.ac.uk
0121 704 2581

Bus numbers 5, A7, A8 and S20 stops outside the college. 

The college is within walking distance of Widney Manor train station and Solihull 
town centre.

For financial support go to https://www.solihullsfc.ac.uk/student-zone/financial-
support/

Page 37

mailto:enquiries@solihull.ac.uk?subject=Website%20enquiry
mailto:enquiries@solihull.ac.uk
https://www.solihull.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/SS-16-19-Financial-Assistance-Guidelines-17-18.pdf
https://www.solihull.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/SS-16-19-Financial-Assistance-Guidelines-17-18.pdf
mailto:enquiries@solihullsfc.ac.uk
https://www.solihullsfc.ac.uk/student-zone/financial-support/
https://www.solihullsfc.ac.uk/student-zone/financial-support/


Page | 14

9 Colleges beyond Solihull
Hereward College
Bramston Crescent
Coventry
CV4 9SW
Student.services@hereward.ac.uk
02476 426101

Queen Alexandra College
Court Oak Road
Birmingham
B17 9TG
info@qac.ac.uk
0121 428 5050

Stratford College
The Willows North
Alcester Road
Stratford-upon-Avon
CV37 9QR
hello@stratford.ac.uk
01789 266245

Travel by train from Shirley Station on London Midland line.  The college is a 7 
minute walk from Stratford-upon-Avon station.  Train journey time is approximately 
30 minutes.

Travel by bus on Johnson’s Excelbus 20 from Shirley and Solihull.  The journey 
takes 50 minutes followed by a 10 minute walk to the college.

For financial support contact the Student Services Team:
studentfinance@stratford.ac.uk

Warwickshire College Moreton Morrell
Moreton Morrell
Warwick
CV35 9BL
info@warwickshire.ac.uk
0300 45 600 47

The college runs bus service 10 from covering Shirley, Solihull, Knowle, Dorridge:

0800 Shirley, Notcutts Garden Centre 1630 Moreton Morrell College
0810 Solihull, Tudor Grange Park 1710 Dorridge, The Station
0825 Knowle, Fish Bar 1715 Knowle, Fish Bar
0830 Dorridge, The Station 1730 Solihull, Tudor Grange Park
0915 Moreton Morrell College 1745 Shirley Notcutts Garden Centre

Bus passes can be purchased via the College online shop at 
http://shop.warwickshire.ac.uk.

Financial assistance may be available. Information can be found at: 
http://www.warwickshire.ac.uk/help__advice/transport/financial_support.aspx

Page 38

mailto:Student.services@hereward.ac.uk
mailto:info@qac.ac.uk
mailto:hello@stratford.ac.uk
mailto:studentfinance@stratford.ac.uk
mailto:info@warwickshire.ac.uk
http://shop.warwickshire.ac.uk/


15 | P a g e

10 Useful contacts
Solihull Council - School Transport Team
Manor Square
Solihull B91 2QB
schooltransport@solihull.gov.uk
www.solihull.gov.uk/schooltransport
0121 704 6610

Solihull Council - Independent Travel Trainers
travel.training@solihull.gov.uk 
www.solihull.gov.uk/traveltraining 
0121 704 8069

Transport for West Midlands part of West Midlands Combined Authority
www.tfwm.org.uk 

Network West Midlands
www.networkwestmidlands.com
Apps: NetNav and NetWM

Network West Midlands 16-18 Photocard
Students aged 16-18 in full-time education can purchase a 16-18 Photocard for £10 
which entitles the cardholder to pay child fares to and from school or college on 
buses, trains and trams within the West Midlands area.
www.networkwestmidlands.com/16-18

Network West Midlands Disabled Persons Concessionary Travel Pass
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/disabled-persons-pass/

National Express West Midlands Travel Cards and Term Plus
Travel cards available for use on Travel West Midlands buses.
www.nxbus.co.uk/west-midlands 

16-19 Bursary Fund
You could get a bursary to help with education-related costs
www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund 

Care to Learn
Care to Learn can help with childcare costs
www.gov.uk/care-to-learn 

Page 39

mailto:schooltransport@solihull.gov.uk
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/schooltransport
mailto:travel.training@solihull.gov.uk
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/traveltraining
http://www.tfwm.org.uk/
http://www.networkwestmidlands.com/
http://www.networkwestmidlands.com/16-18
https://www.networkwestmidlands.com/tickets-and-passes/disabled-persons-pass/
http://www.nxbus.co.uk/west-midlands
http://www.gov.uk/1619-bursary-fund
http://www.gov.uk/care-to-learn


This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 23 May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education & Skills

Subject/report 
title:

Change of age range Yew Tree Primary School

Report from: Director of Children’s Services

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Ann Pearson Team Leader – School Place Planning
annpearson@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected: 
☒ Silhill

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To Seek approval, on behalf of the Governing Body of Yew Tree Primary School, to 
publish a statutory proposal to extend the lower age range of Yew Tree Primary 
School to include 2 year olds.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 Approve that officers publish statutory proposals to extend the age range of Yew Tree 
Primary School to 2 to 11 years.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 In 2017, Solihull Council successfully bid for additional capital funding to provide 
additional 2 year old provision at Yew Tree School.  The building work has been 
completed and the school has reorganised their early years provision to provide 
further 2 year old places.

3.2 In April 2019, the Governing Body of Yew Tree Primary School resolved to become an 
academy as part of the Tudor Grange Multi Academy Trust.  As part of the academy 
conversion process the Governing Body will need to enter into a funding agreement.  
In order to do this, the Governing Body needs to formalise their early years provision 
by extending the age range of the school from 3 to 11 years to 2 to 11 years.

3.3 This proposal seeks to make a technical change only, and makes no change to the 
provision already offered by the school.  As the school is currently a community school 
only the Council can publish proposals to make this change.

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



3.4 In order to facilitate this organisational change the Governing Body and Headteacher 
of the School have carried out a period of consultation with parents.  This has enabled 
parents to raise any concerns or questions they may have about the change. No 
concerns have been raised by parents through this consultation period.

3.5 The publication of a statutory proposal will allow a further 4 week consultation period 
where any interested parties can make comments on or object to the proposal. Any 
comments or objections received during this process will be considered by Cabinet 
Member before a final decision is made on the proposal.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 This proposal seeks to make a technical change only so no other options have been 
considered.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 It is important to note that this proposal is making no change to the provision that the 
school already provides but seeks to formalise the early years provision at the school 
to facilitate their academy conversion.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? 

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

☒ Managed Growth - 

☒ Build Stronger Communities - 

☒ Deliver Value - 

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 This proposal seeks to formalise the existing early years arrangements that the school 
already provides for vulnerable 2 year olds in the Borough.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 The Headteacher and Governing Body of the School have carried out a period of 
consultation with parents on this proposal and no concerns have been received from 
parents.

6.3.2 If approved the publication of statutory proposals to formally change the age range of 
the school will provide a further 4 week period for any interested parties to make 

Page 42



comments or object to the proposal. Any comments or objections received during this 
period will be considered by Cabinet Member before a final decision is taken on the 
proposal.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report.

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 The Council has published statutory proposals to extend the age range of a 
community school.

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 The requirement to publish statutory proposals to extend the age range of the school 
could delay the academy conversion of the school

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 None as a result of this report.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 None

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 23 May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education & Skills

Subject/report 
title:

Proposed Expansion of St Augustine’s Catholic School

Report from: Director of Children’s Services

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Ann Pearson

Wards affected: 
 ☒ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To seek approval for a period of non-statutory consultation on the proposal to expand 
St Augustine’s Catholic Primary School.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 Approve that officers carry out a period of consultation with parents, schools and the 
wider community of a proposal to expand St Augustine’s Primary School from 
September 2020.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 The School Organisation Plan 2018, approved by Cabinet Member in September 
2018, provides a detailed analysis of pupil numbers and sets out the forecasting 
methodology and housing developments for the Borough.  The plan outlines the areas 
within the Borough that require additional school places and a process for working in 
partnership with schools and academies to deliver the additional school places.

3.2 By September 2018, 1,244 permanent primary school places have been added with a 
further 525 planned by 2020.  This proposal seeks to meet an increasing demand for 
Catholic School places, including additional Catholic demand from the housing 
development at Blythe Valley.

3.3 The proposal to expand St Augustine’s Catholic Primary School will provide 210 of the 
places still to be delivered, and will increase the capacity of the school from 210 
places to 420 places.

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



3.4 DfE guidance published in October 2018, requires the Council to follow a statutory 
process to expand a school where the proposed enlargement to the premises of the 
school is permanent and would increase the capacity of the school by more than 30 
pupils and 25% or 200 pupils (whichever is the lesser). 

3.5 If approved, officers will undertake a period of non-statutory consultation with 
stakeholders.  The outcome of this consultation will be reported back to Cabinet 
Member before a decision is taken on whether to proceed with the statutory process 
to expand the school.

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 The options available to the Council are:-

 Make no change

 Expand an existing school

 Seek the provision of a new school

4.2 Through the School Organisation Plan the Council has added 1,244 primary school 
places with a further 510 required, in particular to meet the additional demand from 
strategic housing sites such as Blythe Valley.  If the Council makes no change to the 
level of primary places available families moving into new developments may not be 
able to secure a local primary place.

4.3 It is officer’s view that the level and spread of housing development is insufficient to 
warrant the provision of a new primary school.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 The School Organisation Plan gives a clear commitment to work with both Catholic 
and Church of England Diocesan and to maintain proportionality of church school 
places within the Borough.  The expansion of St Augustine’s Catholic Primary School 
will support this commitment at primary age.

5.2 Following site feasibility work, carried out by the Catholic Diocese, St Augustine’s has 
been identified as the Diocese preferred Catholic primary school expansion.  This 
expansion will meet the existing demand for primary catholic school places as well as 
meeting the new demand generated from housing developments in Blythe Valley, 
Tidbury Green and more recently from Shirley.

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the 
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery):

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

Page 46



☒ Managed Growth - 

☒ Build Stronger Communities - 

☒ Deliver Value - 

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 The proposal to expand St Augustine’s Catholic Primary School will deliver sufficient 
school places to meet the rising demand for Catholic school places from families in 
Solihull.

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 This report seeks permission to consult with parents/carers and the wider community 
on the proposal to expand the school.  The outcome of this consultation process will 
be reported back to Cabinet Member before a decision is taken on whether to proceed 
with the statutory process to expand the school.

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 Revenue – Additional pupils generate additional Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), 
which funds extra pupils.  In addition, School Forum has approved growth criteria to 
identify additional revenue funding for those schools experiencing growth in pupil 
numbers.

6.4.2 The Children’s Services Capital Programme includes budgetary provision of £2.1m, 
based upon the feasibility scheme for this proposal. 

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 The Council has a legal duty to ensure there are sufficient school places to meet the 
needs of Solihull children and is required to follow the statutory process when 
considering a school expansion.

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 The key risk is that additional school places cannot be provided in time to meet the 
growth in demand from Solihull children.

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 None as a result of this report.

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 None

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 School Organisation Plan 2018.

Page 47



9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 48



Meeting date: 23 May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education & Skills

Subject/report 
title:

Proposed Special Free School

Report from: Director of Children’s Services

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Ann Pearson Team Leader – School Place Planning
annpearson@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:  ☒ All Wards 

Public/private  
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To update Cabinet Member on the Council’s bid to create a Special Free School with 
a focus on Autism and high level associated Social Emotional and Mental Health 
Needs.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To note the progress on the implementation of the proposal to create a Special Free 
School in Solihull.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 In September 2018, the Council submitted a bid to the DfE to create a Special Free 
School with a focus on Autism and high level associated Social Emotional and Mental 
Health Needs.

3.2 This school will form part of an Autism Centre of Excellence in Solihull, which will 
adopt an innovative approach to address a wider range of educational, support and 
research functions.   In addition, this Centre of Excellence will support the effective 
inclusion for children with autism in mainstream education.

3.3 The specification for the school is for 100 places across years 3 to 11 (age 7 to 16).  
The Council’s preferred option, identified in the bid, is to have a split site school with 
sites in North and South Solihull. Two sites have been identified within the 
specification; Daylesford Infant School site in South Solihull and the Jenson 
House/Bosworth Wood site in the North of the Borough.  On 11 March 2019, the 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Secretary of State announced approval of Solihull’s bid.  The first stage of the process 
is to run a Trust competition which is currently underway and will run until 30 
September 2019.  The competition is advertised on the Council website, through the 
New Schools Network and by the DfE.  A stakeholder engagement event has been 
arranged for 21 May, where all interested trusts will have the opportunity to find out 
more about Solihull’s vision for the school, meet officers and ask any further questions 
before they submit their bid. 

3.4 During the Autumn Term, the DfE and Council representatives will shortlist and 
interview potential trusts before the Secretary of State makes a final decision, 
anticipated early in 2020.

3.5 In parallel, the DfE have appointed a project director to oversee the delivery of the 
sites and buildings for the project.  The first meeting of this project team, has now 
taken place, early indications are that the DfE will only be support the development of 
the Free School on one of the two sites.  The DfE will now carry out further feasibility 
work on both identified sites, but it is anticipated that the outcome of this work will 
identify the Bosworth Wood site for the development of the whole school.   Feasibility 
will also assess if the school is to be delivered as a re-modelling of the old buildings, 
or as a new school build. 

3.6 Once a Trust has been appointed, the project will move to the pre-opening stage , 
which will look in detail at implementation and delivery of the school and a school 
opening date. At this stage, the DfE view is that September 2023 is the most likely 
opening date

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 The SEND School place commissioning strategy has identified investment in Autism 
provision in Solihull as a key priority.  A significant proportion of pupils placed in 
schools located outside of Solihull have Autism or SEMH as their primary need.  The 
continued growth in the number of pupils with EHCP and the demand for high cost 
independent provision located outside of Solihull is unsustainable financially.

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 The development of a Special Free School in Solihull will be a key driver in reducing 
the number of pupils being placed in high cost provision outside of Solihull and it is 
envisaged that it is this cohort of pupils that the new Special Free School will provide 
for.  

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan? (select which themes apply and briefly state how the 
options / proposals in this report contribute to their delivery):

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing - 

Page 50



☒ Managed Growth - 

☒ Build Stronger Communities - 

☒ Deliver Value - 

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 At January 2019 circa 200 pupils with EHCPs were placed in specialist or independent 
provision outside of Solihull. Over 50% of these pupils have a primary need of Autism.  
The development of a Special Free School in Solihull will enable the Council to offer 
specialist school places to part of this vulnerable cohort of pupils, rather than them 
having to travel outside of Solihull to access appropriate provision.  

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 A consultation process will be held as part of the pre-opening stage of the Free School 
process. 

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 All capital spend on the delivery of the buildings will be funded directly by the 
government. The Council are required to provide the land on a long-term lease at a 
peppercorn rent. The ESFA will develop the detailed specification of the site with the 
Council. 

6.4.2 In the event that the DfE determine that a new build school can be provided the 
Council will be responsible for the demolition and site clearance costs. This would be 
funded from the Education Capital Programme. 

6.4.3 Solihull has put forward an indicative per pupil funding model of £10,000 per place 
and £10,000 top-up per pupil. Solihull should receive the £10,000 place funding as 
additional funding to our High Needs Block. Solihull will have to fund the top-up from 
existing high needs block funding (£1.5m). 

6.4.4 In order to achieve this, Solihull is modelling that 25% to 33% of initial pupils will be re-
located from existing placements at independent schools, whereby the average cost 
of a place and transport is twice the cost of an in-borough provision.  

6.4.5 The Jensen House / Bosworth Wood campus was originally included as a potential 
site in the North Solihull Regeneration Partnership programme for housing 
development. Full Cabinet had previously agreed that any capital receipt delivered on 
that site would be used to repay the corporate contribution to the Chelmund Cross 
Village Centre (circa £0.6m).  It was however reported at that time that the site might 
not come forward and / or that the value achieved would be insufficient.  If the site is 
chosen for the Free School there could still be the potential for housing development 
on part of the site and this will become clearer as the specification progresses

Page 51



6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 The Council is required to follow the statutory process laid out by the DfE for opening 
a special free school. Legal agreements will be required for the use of the Council site 
or sites by the Free school, the DfE expectation being a 125 year lease with a 
peppercorn rent. 

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 No formal risk assessment has been undertaken as part of this report, however a risk 
assessment will be undertaken as part of the pre-opening stage of the free school 
process. 

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 None undertaken. 

7. List of appendices referred to

7.1 None

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 None

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 None

Page 52



 

 
 

Meeting date: 23 May 2019 

 

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education & Skills 

Subject/report 
title: 

Langley Primary School – Early Years Provision 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Anthony Watson 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☒ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

N/A 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To seek formal confirmation of the decision to acquire the established Early Years 
private nursery provision at Langley Primary School. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Following the recommendation highlighted in the Children’s Capital Programme 
Update 2018/21 presented to Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills on 
the 18 December 2018, it is recommended that the Cabinet Member confirms his 
approval to this proposal.   

3. What is the issue? 

3.1 On the 18 December 2018, as one of the decisions made around the Children’s 
Capital Programme 2018/21, recommendation (d) highlighted approval to “the new 
scheme included in the programme, and detailed in the body of the report, for Langley 
Primary School subject to the preparation of a business plan and final approval to that 
by the Cabinet Member”. 

3.2 In parallel to this separate business streams were commissioned to secure the 
acquisition in its widest context including HR and legal arrangements. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The options available to the Council were: 

 Make no change 

 Assimilate the existing private nursery into Langley Primary School 

4.2 First Choice Childcare Limited has operated as a local childcare provider on the 
Langley Primary Campus since around 2000. The provision is well established and 
sound with a robust business plan. 

4.3 The nursery is based within a modular building that was purchased in 2000 
comprising some 250 sqm of floor space. There have consecutive ground leases on 
the school site since its opening that have been for periods of 5 years respectively. 
The premise has been inspected and is sound, having a long life and being in good 
condition and the acquisition includes all related fixtures and fittings. 

4.4 The acquisition enhances the Early Years offer, directly provided by the school, and 
will ensure a coherent and consistent position, moving forward for its community and 
key stakeholders. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 In relation to our Early Years Sufficiency policy both our Early Years Adviser and the 
Head Teacher fully supported the proposal to assimilate this offer into the schools 
established arrangements. Specifically: 

 The school was keen to develop its flexibility and control around early years to 
maximise its site and provide an additional income stream, to the advantage of 
its children;   

 In relation to the numbers and ages of children catered for, the school would 
seek to sustain what the community needed, initially retaining the current profile 
developed by First Choice.  

 The school feels that the opportunity the acquisition presents will allow services 
to be streamlined and aligned so that parents get the child care that they need 
through one provider with all the benefits of clarity and continuity that 
engenders.  

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 Delivery of key themes in the Council Plan: 

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the key 
themes in the Council Plan?: 

6.1.1 ☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing - The proposal to assimilate the nursery into 

 Langley Primary’s Early Years provision will increase the childcare offer the 
 school can provide the local community.  

Page 54



 

 
 

☐ Managed Growth 

☐ Build Stronger Communities 

☐ Deliver Value 

6.2 Financial implications: 

6.2.1 The school have developed a Business Case in conjunction with Council Officers 
based upon a 5 Year Budget Forecast from 2019/20 onwards. For the period 
modelled, the school are projecting a positive operational balance year on year. 

6.2.2 In reflection of the Business Case the loan negotiated with the school is for £300k. 
The capital programme is making a contribution of £20k to effect a negotiated 
acquisition price of £320k. 

6.3 Legal implications: 

6.3.1 The Legal elements related to this transfer comprised (1) a Deed of Surrender and (2) 
a Sale Agreement.  

6.3.2 The Deed of Surrender brings the Ground Lease to a close. 

6.3.3 The Sale Agreement focused upon the acquisition of the premise, which has also 
been approved by the Head of Strategic Land under Delegated Powers. The 
Agreement also includes for all fixtures and fittings and the goodwill around the 
transference of existing staff and parent contracts. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 None 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Children’s Services Capital Programme Update 2018/21, 18th December 2018.  

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting date: 23rd May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education and Skills

Subject/report 
title:

LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF REVISION OF INSTRUMENT 
OF GOVERNMENT 

Report from: Director of Children's Services and Skills

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Natasha Chamberlain

Wards affected: 
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☒ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the ‘Quick Parts’ drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To approve the revision of a Governing Body Instrument of Government 

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To approve the revision of the Instrument of Government for Castle Bromwich Infant 
and Nursery School.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 The governing body is re-constituting under the latest 2012 regulations which give 
governing bodies more flexibility in their composition than previously. This means that 
they should be no bigger than necessary to secure the range of skills required and 
that their Governing Body is constituted from an appropriate number of governors in 
the correct categories. 

3.2 The changes in the revised Instrument for Castle Bromwich Infant and Nursery School 
relates to reducing the overall number of governors on the board.  The governing 
body’s proposal meets the requirements of School Governance (Constitution) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 N/A

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 N/A

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the Council 
Plan? (select which of the below apply and also specify which key programme/s):

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing -

☐ Managed Growth -

☒ Build Stronger Communities -

☐ Deliver Value -

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 All new governors have completed an enhanced DBS check

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 N/A

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 N/A

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 N/A

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 N/A

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 N/A

7.  List of appendices referred to

7.1 A draft Instrument of Government for approval.

Page 58



8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 N/A

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 N/A

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



THE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SOLIHULL
EDUCATION ACT 2002

INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT 

(Castle Bromwich Infant and Nursery School) ORDER 2019

MADE  23rd MAY 2019

In exercise of the powers conferred on Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council by the 

provisions of the School Governance (Constitution)(England) Regulations 2012, 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council being the local authority for the Metropolitan 

Borough of Solihull, hereby make the following Order:-

1. This Order may be cited as the Instrument of Government (Castle Bromwich 

Infant and Nursery School) Order 2019.

2. The Instrument of Government for Castle Bromwich Infant and Nursery School 

shall be that set out in the Schedule hereto and shall when it comes into force 

replace any earlier Instrument of Government.

THE COMMON SEAL OF )

THE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH )

OF SOLIHULL was hereunto affixed )

The [           ] day of [              ] 2019 )

in the presence of:- )

Solicitor to the Council

Page 61



INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT

1. The name of the school is Castle Bromwich Infant and Nursery School.

2. The school is a community school.

3. The name of the governing body is The Board of Governors of Castle 

Bromwich Infant and Nursery School.

4. The governing body shall consist of:

a. 3 parent governors 

b. 1 LA governor

c. 1 headteacher

d. 1 staff governor

e. 6 co-opted governor 

5. Total number of governors 12

6. This Instrument of Government comes into effect on 1st June 2019.

7. The instrument was made by order of Solihull Local Authority on 23rd May 

2019.

8. A copy of this instrument must be supplied to every member of the governing 

body.

Page 62



Meeting date: 23rd May 2019

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education and Skills

Subject/report 
title:

LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF LA GOVERNOR 
APPOINTMENTS

Report from: Director of Children's Services and Skills

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer:

Natasha Chamberlain

Wards affected: 
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☒ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege

Public/private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:

Select an Exemption paragraph from the ‘Quick Parts’ drop-down list

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To approve Local Authority nominations to school governing bodies.

2. Decision(s) recommended

2.1 To approve the proposal for the nomination of a Local Authority Governor as shown in 
Appendix A.

3. What is the issue?

3.1 The proposal for new LA Governor nomination is set out in Appendix A.  

3.2 Under School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulation 2012 new LA 
governors are nominated by the Local Authority but appointed by the Governing 

           Body

3.3 The proposed nominee have been approved by the governing body.

3.4 A DBS check has been undertaken and clearance has been received.

3.5 A summary of LA governor vacancies is set out in Appendix B.  

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them?

4.1 N/A

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1 N/A

6. Implications and Considerations

6.1 Delivery of the Council Plan:

How will the options/proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of the Council 
Plan? (select which of the below apply and also specify which key programme/s):

☒ Improve Health and Wellbeing -

☐ Managed Growth -

☒ Build Stronger Communities -

☐ Deliver Value -

6.2 Implications for children and young people, vulnerable groups and particular 
communities:

6.2.1 All new governors have completed an enhanced DBS check

6.3 Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.3.1 N/A

6.4 Financial implications:

6.4.1 N/A

6.5 Legal implications:

6.5.1 N/A

6.6 Risk implications:

6.6.1 N/A

6.7 Statutory Equality Duty:

6.7.1 N/A

7.  List of appendices referred to

7.1 A. Proposed Local Authority Governor Nomination

Page 64



7.2 B: Summary of LA Governor Vacancies

8. Background papers used to compile this report

8.1 N/A

9. List of other relevant documents

9.1 N/A

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

NEW LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNOR 
NOMINATIONS

SCHOOL NOMINEE

Triple Crown Centre Julie Hackett

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

LA Governor Vacancies (April 2019)

GOVERNING BODY NUMBER OF VACANCIES NEW NOMINATIONS =

Castle Bromwich Junior 1 0 1
Cranmore Infant School 1 0 1
Forest Oak and Merstone 1 0 1
Peterbrook 1 0 1
St Alphege Federation 1 0 1
St Peter’s Catholic School 1 0 1
Triple Crown 1 1 0
Ulverley 1 0 1

     Totals 8 1 7

LA Governor Overview 

Total LA Governor positions 54
Total LA Governor vacancies 7
% Posts Filled 88%

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Home to school travel assistance policies - reception to year 11 and post-16
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Proposal to alter the age range of Yew Tree Primary School
	6 Proposal to Expand St Augustine's Catholic Primary School
	7 Update on the Special Free School Bid
	8 Langley Primary School - Early Years Provision
	9 Local Authority Approval of Revised Instrument of Government
	Appendix 1

	10 Local Authority Approval of Appointment of LA Governor
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


